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sea level that ultimately destroyed evidence of Paleoindian sites on the Delmarva Coastal Plain. The 
majority of the identified Paleoindian period sites in Delaware (numbering less than 10) are on 
upland flats situated near interfluves (Dent 1995).  

Subsistence strategies during this period most likely consisted of a combination of hunting game 
such as moose, elk and deer, and perhaps to a lesser extent, fishing and foraging, which were more 
limited activities in Delaware than elsewhere in the Middle Atlantic region (Kavanaugh 1982; McNett 
1985; Dent 1995). The environmental conditions of this period limited the availability of fish in the 
Delmarva Peninsula due to the low temperature and high velocity of rivers and other water bodies. 
Shellfish resources were available in what are now submerged areas east of the present coastline 
as early as the Late Glacial episode. The limited number of known sites makes it challenging to 
assess the degree to which these resources were utilized during this period (Thieler et al. 2000).  

Custer (1984:51) has emphasized the use of cryptocrystalline lithic material acquired from primary 
quarries in northern Delaware that was supplemented by secondary cobble sources found along 
southern sections of the Chesapeake Bay. Early Paleoindian sites are characterized by the 
presence of large, fluted, lanceolate-shaped projectile points, such as the Clovis and 
Dalton/Hardaway types, the majority of which were made on high-quality cryptocrystalline material. 
There have been 50+ isolated finds of fluted projectile points in Delaware (Stanzeski and Hoffman 
2006). After ca. 10,000 BC, fluted points went out of favor and were replaced with varieties such as 
the Palmer and Kirk notched points. Studies of lithic procurement systems in the Middle Atlantic and 
in nearby regions have shown that Paleoindian groups probably traveled long distances to obtain the 
raw materials needed for tool production (Gardner 1977; Custer 1984; Lantz 1985; Gramly 1988, 
1999).  

3.1.2 Archaic Period (6500–3000 BC) 
The transition from the Paleoindian period to the Archaic period was associated with a major climatic 
change that occurred at the end of the last Ice Age. During the Archaic period, rising sea levels 
submerged the lower Susquehanna River and began forming the Chesapeake Bay, creating large 
estuarine marshes that offered an increased quantity and variety of food resources (Kraft 1976). As 
temperatures increased during this period, hemlock, birch, and oak began to replace spruce (Brush 
1986:149; Custer 1990:10; LeeDecker and Holt 1991:72). Evidence from late Paleoindian period 
sites suggest that the transition from the Paleoindian lifeway was not a sharp break, but rather a 
gradual transition (Custer 1990). 

The Archaic period coincides with the onset of the Atlantic Climatic episode (ca. 6540–3110 BC), 
which was a warm, humid period associated with a rise in sea level that led to the development of 
inland swamps (Barse and Beauregard 1994:9). It was also marked by an increase in summer 
drought, grassland expansion into the Eastern Woodlands, and the appearance of new plant species 
(Carbone 1976:106; Hantman 1990:138). The formerly cooler, wetter climate shifted to an 
ecologically more productive, warmer, and drier climate similar to what exists today. Vegetation in 
the region shifted from mostly coniferous forests to mixed deciduous and coniferous forests. Many of 
the larger mammals became extinct during this period and more specialized hunting techniques 
were developed, including the use of atlatls weighted with bannerstones.  

Known Archaic sites are much more numerous, larger, and richer in artifacts than the earlier 
Paleoindian sites. They represent a series of adaptations that were increasingly sedentary and 
focused on large rivers and major tributaries. Other, often smaller, sites located away from the main 
streams may represent seasonally reoccupied camps or other specialized activity areas. Both 
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Black Rock Complex (formerly known as Wolfe Neck), with its characteristic stemmed points and 
Susquehanna Series ceramics, was thriving. Both complexes were replaced ca. AD 0 by the Carey 
Complex which conspicuously lacked the mortuary/ exchange centers common to the Delmarva 
Adena Complex (Custer 1989; Ward et al. 2013:18). Shell-tempered Mockley Ware and Rossville-
like and Fox Creek points are characteristic diagnostics of the Carey Complex.  

3.1.4 Woodland II Period (AD 1000–1650) 
The Woodland II (Late Woodland) environment was essentially modern in character and marine and 
estuarine resources continued to be exploited. “The basic changes noted in Delaware [at this time] 
include the breakdown of trade and exchange networks, alterations of settlement patterns, the 
development of sedentary lifestyles [in the southern section of Delaware], and the appearance of 
agricultural food production to varying degrees in different areas” (Custer 1984:146). Although 
horticulture becomes important throughout the Middle Atlantic region during the Woodland II period, 
a little evidence of it is found in Delaware. Subsistence strategies remained relatively unchanged 
from the previous period with the exception of very limited horticultural activity and the addition of 
cultigens to the diet in some areas, particularly in northern Delaware. Shellfish, especially oysters 
and clams, remained an important resource in the Woodland II diet with a wide variety of species 
have been recovered from sites across the state.  

The Minguannan Complex is the main cultural complex found in the northern section of Delaware 
during the Woodland II period. In addition to occupying northern Delaware (the lower Delaware 
Valley) this group occupied northwestern Maryland and parts of Chester County, Pennsylvania. 
Minguannan settlements, primarily represented by macro-band base camps, were situated in 
locations previously occupied in the Woodland I period. These were often in the most productive 
areas, such as brackish marshes and floodplains. Unlike the preceding culture, the Minguannan 
Complex is characterized by a less sedentary and more nomadic lifestyle, with identified sites 
lacking pit features, house patterns, burials, and sheet middens (Stewart et al. 1986; Custer 1987; 
Custer 1989; Stewart 1993:173). This differs significantly from the contemporaneous Shanks Ferry 
Complex identified in the northern Delaware Valley.  

Analysis of ceramic decorative motifs suggests the Minguannan shared design elements, and hence 
had a more evolved exchange network of ideas, with other Algonquian-speaking groups to the south 
than with their neighbors to the north (Custer 1987). Minguannan ceramics are characterized by 
incised geometric designs and are usually sand and/or grit tempered with smooth surfaces (Stewart 
et al. 1986:59). This design pattern shares more characteristic attributes with Townsend ceramics of 
the Slaughter Creek Complex of southern Delaware and the Moyaone ceramics found throughout 
the Western Shore Coastal Plain of Maryland than with Shenks Ferry ceramics. Stewart (1993) 
postulated that the Minguannan acted as middlemen between the Shanks Ferry group to the north 
and the groups to the south. However, settlement patterns and artifact types suggest that the 
Minguannan did not actively engage in an exchange of ideas with the Shenks Ferry people in the 
northern Delaware Valley (for further discussion see Griffith and Custer 1985; Potter 1993; Dent 
1995). 

The Slaughter Creek Complex is the dominant culture in the southern two-thirds of Delaware during 
the Woodland II period. Slaughter Creek Complex sites are often extensive with several subsurface 
features, many containing shellfish remains (Gerhardt and Mancl 2011:31). Large base camps 
(permanent or semi-permanent) with storage features and refuse pits, Townsend ceramics, and 
triangular-shaped points are the defining characteristics of this complex (Custer and Griffith 
1986:29). An intensified use of storage for food surplus, a significant change in behavior from the 
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• Urbanization and Early Suburbanization (1880–1940)  

• The Modern Period (1960–present)  

Lenert et. al. (2014) presented a concise overview of the local history in their Phase I report for the 
SR 1 Northeast Front Street Intersection improvements. They pulled from HRI’s (2010) historic 
overview of the local region from their Phase I archaeology report for the SR 1/SR 30-Cedar Creek 
Road intersection improvement project, and the US 113 Cultural Resources Document prepared by 
John Milner and Associates (JMA) (2004). The following local historical summary provides 
information about the Kent County and the Milford area drawing from Marble’s report and 
supplements the summary with information provided by additional research. 

European settlement in Kent County occurred in the later part of the seventeenth century, primarily 
by the Swedish, Dutch, and the English. The Phase II evaluation area is on land formerly called St. 
Jones County. In 1683 St. Jones was divided into Kent and Sussex Counties, which are bisected by 
the Mispillion River. Milford straddles the two counties but the current project area is on the Kent 
County side of the river. In the late 1600s several large land tracts were granted, including “Cedar 
Neck” (1676), “Slaughter Neck” (1677), “Saw Mill Range” (1680), of which Milford proper was part, 
“Longfield” (1681), and “Improvement” (1685). At that time, this portion of Kent County (then St. 
Jones County) was part of Mispillion Hundred (Figure 3-1). It was not until 1830 that Milford Hundred 
was carved from the east side of Mispillion Hundred.  

Scharf (1888) noted that by the late seventeenth century a public works program was in place, which 
included the construction of roads, bridges, and ferries. Eighteenth century post roads were in the 
Milford area. The “King’s Road” that passed through Milford, just a village then, was already present 
in the 1680s (Lenert et. al. 2014:16; see Kenton 2001, and JMA 2004). By 1787 the town of Milford 
was laid out at the confluence of the Mispillion River, Clark’s Branch, and Bowman’s Branch (Emory 
1989:5) and in 1807 Milford received a Town Charter and was incorporated. The Mispillion River 
supported mills, shipping, and shipbuilding industries and allowed for local development. In 1787 the 
first mill was built in the area and the land around it was divided into town lots for Milford (Scharf 
1888; see HRI 2010, and Lenert et. al. 2014).  

Throughout its settlement, occupation, and urbanization, Kent County has had a varied economic 
history. Shipbuilding, especially in the Milford area, was a prime industry in Kent County from the 
late eighteenth / early nineteenth century. Local oak forests provided the raw material for 
shipbuilding. The heyday for the Milford shipbuilding and shipping industry was between 1850 and 
1890 (six shipyards are listed on the 1868 Beers atlas) but in the Milford area New Wharf Landing 
was already in existence by the mid-eighteenth century (Hitchens 1976; Kenton 2001). 

Agriculture has been a principal industry in the county since its earliest settlement. Tobacco was an 
important crop until just prior to the Civil War. Tobacco fields were replaced by peach orchards 
throughout the county starting in the first quarter of the nineteenth century and by the 1830s 
Delaware was known as a peach-growing state (Dunn et al. 1920:8). Starting in the nineteenth 
century several canning factories were found scattered across the county. Milford was a central 
location in the canning industry and the local landings supporting a thriving shipping industry. By the 
end of the Civil War, and with the benefit of excellent rail and water connections, Milford had become 
a bustling town (Lenert et. al. 2014:17; see Hancock 1976, and JMA 2004). With the exception of 
twentieth century road improvements and some residential and commercial developments, the 
modern Milford area remains mainly agricultural in character. 
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Figure 3-2. Milford area land grants map, source: Hitchens & Hurley 1985:193. 

 
 

In 1788 Thomas Winsmore purchased 166.75 acres of land, part of which was in Longfield, from 
Levin Willey, Jr. whose father purchased the land from a Pennell (Hitchens and Hurley 1985:232). 
Winsmore purchased additional property in Longfield ca. 1795 from Elias Shockley (Deed Book 
G:135) which contained the current project area. Winsmore gave his name to the ditch found just 
southeast of the Phase II evaluation area, which was known as “Winsmore Farm” until the twentieth 
century. A note on the naming: New Wharf Farm, as the current property is called, was originally 
Winsmore Farm; the historic New Wharf Farm was actually to the north of the project area, and was 
adjacent to the New Wharf Landing, a wharf built on the Mispillion in the early to mid-eighteenth 
century where a small hamlet also was once located (Figure 3-3). 
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during which time the properties, both the land and buildings, were falling into disrepair. There were 
tenants on various farms throughout this time but they were not well managed.  

Figure 3-4. 1850 Orphans Court Plot W, p 26, showing the approximate location of the 
project area and SR 409/New Wharf Road. 

 
Charles Fleming was made executor of the Potter Estate in 1847 and remained in that position until 
1863, at which time he was taken to court for mismanagement of the farms.  

It was noted in State of Delaware vs. Fleming (Bates 1883) that only 16 or 17 acres of the farm were 
tillable; this is considerably fewer than what was reported when Potter purchased the land. 
According to several witnesses, Potter left Winsmore Farm “in an utterly desolate condition, almost 
without building, and growing up in pine wood…and soon after [Potter’s death] this farm became 
tenantless and the old house on it was, at one time, used for small pox patients…” This was the 
condition of the property when Charles Fleming, executor, rented it to John Redden in 1848 (Bates 
1883:519–520). Fleming had rented the Winsmore Farm to John Redden (who had a farm and 
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In the early 1960s the Potter Estate Charity began splitting up and selling off the Potter lands to the 
public. The land encompassing the project area was sold in 1962 to Harvey Marvel and his wife 
Violet C., and Edwin L. Fisher and his wife Frances M. (Deed Book B23:573). The deed reads “All 
that certain farm in Milford Hundred, Kent County and State of Delaware, with the improvements 
thereon being a house and barn, known as the Winsmore Farm and of record at Plot W in the plots 
of the Potter Charity Estate.” 

At some point following the purchase those structures were razed. Marvel and Fisher held onto the 
property until about 1982 when the partnership of Bill Dickerson & George Chaney purchased it, 
trading as either Diamond State Trucking Brokers or Blue Hen Lines. George Chaney died in 1990 
and left his 50 percent interest to his wife, Dorothy Lynch Chaney. After her death she left the 
property to her two sons, Randy and Dewey Lynch. Bill Dickerson died about 1990 and left his 50 
percent interest to his daughter, Billie Lynn Dickerson Thompson and her son, Billy Thompson. The 
Chancery Court divided the property into two separate parcels in 2012. Today the Lynch brothers 
own 96 acres along Route 1 inclusive of the project area, and Billie Lynn Dickerson owns 96 acres 
along the Mispillion River and further east.  

3.3 Known Sites and Previous Investigations 
A total of five archaeological sites have been recorded within 1 mile of the Phase II evaluation area. 
Of those, two are prehistoric and three are historic (Table 3-1). Additionally, 1 historic bridge and 17 
historic structures have been recorded within 1 mile of the project area. One previous investigation 
has been reported within 1 mile of the project area (Table 3-2). 

Table 3-1. Previously recorded archaeological and historic architectural sites within 1 
mile radius of the Phase II evaluation area. 

Delaware SHPO 
Designation Site Number Description Period National Register 

Status 

K-360  Wilkerson & Son Brickworks 1917–1957 (Built 1912) Listed 1978 
(demolished) 

K-788 7K-F-037 Bowen Farm Site Historic  

K-348  Mispillion River Lift Bridge 1929–1930  

K-2031 7K-F-168 Nutter Smokehouse Historic demolished 

K-4895  Dwelling ca. 1880–1940  

K-4896  Agricultural Complex ca. 1880–1940  

K-4898  Agricultural Complex ca. 1880–1940  

K-4949  Dwelling Complex   

K-7336 7K-F-204  Historic  

K-7461  Dwelling 1940  

K-7477  Dwelling 1940  

K-7478  Dwelling 1925  

K-7479  Dwelling 1925  

K-7480  Dwelling 1950  

K-7481  Dwelling 1945  

22 | May 2015 





Phase II Archaeological Evaluation for the Potter Estate Tenant Farmstead Site (7K-F-205) 
Milford, Milford Hundred, Kent County, Delaware 

This page intentionally left blank

24 | May 2015 




